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ords of Bowdoin, Maine (Auburn, Maine, 1945. 205 p.); The History of
Bethel Methodist Episcopal Church, Gloucester County, New Jersey by
Mrs. Walter A. Simpson (Hurflville, New Jersey, 1945. 240 p.); The
History of the Town of Catharine, Schuyler County, N. Y. by Mary L.
Cleaver (Rutland, Vermont, 1945. 686 p.); Some Early Ohio and Penn-
sylvania Families by Carle L. Maskey (Los Angeles, 1945. 88 p.); and
The Pageant of Benefit Stree: by Margaret B. Stillwell (Providence, Rhode
Island, 1945. 144 p.). L. M. F.



News and Comment

A procraM for “Publicizing History” worked out by the advertising
manager of a Detroit business firm, Mr. Reuben Ryding, is outlined in the
Michigan History Magazine for January-March. He expresses the belief
that historical societies “have vast opportunities for developing state-wide
interest in and consciousness of the exciting history of our state, both past
and present.” Among the plans the writer advocates is one “recommending
to Michigan publishers that they give serious consideration to establishing
local history departments in their newspapers, and to be guided in that
effort by their local historical societies.” He reports that “many of the activ-
ities my firm has underwritten have had an historical flavor,” including
the marking of historic sites in Detroit, and the sponsoring of certain
historical publications.

In a suggestive article on the “Work of a State Historical Society,” pub-
lished in Nebraska History for October-December, LeRoy R. Hafen of
the Colorado State Historical Society describes some of the projects that
his organization is now fostering. Among them is a “16mm colored
movie portraying the highlights of our state’s history,” which is now in
preparation, according to Dr. Hafen. He describes it as a “combination
of travelogue, historical stories and sites, and museum exhibits. A running
lecture will be made into a sound track to accompany the picture,” he
continues, adding that “We think it is going to be a very effective medium
of telling the story of our state. If it turns out as well as we hope, one of
the leading railroads wants to send out duplicates to various parts of the
country.”

A report of a panel discussion on “County Historical Societies and
Their Future,” conducted at Indianapolis on December 7 in connection
with the annual Indiana History Conference, appears in the Indiana
History Bulletin for January. Methods for “Getting County Financial
Support” are suggested by Charles H. Stubbs, and some ways for “Making
a Museum Attractive” are described by Alameda McCollough. In the same
tssue of the Bulletin are published papers presented before the Indiana
History Teachers Association on December 8, including William O.
Lynch’s ideas about the “Preparation of the Teacher of State and Local His-
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tory,” and Mrs. Joy M. Lacey’s report on “Teaching State and Local
History in the Elementary School.” A paper read before the folkiore
session of the conference on December 8 by Richard M. Dorson deals with
the “Historical Method and American Folklore.” Often invaluable to the
folklorist, Mr. Dorson points out, are the local histories produced by resi-
dent antiquarians, though such works represent “probably the least re-
spectable branch of American historical writing.”

The first of a series of articles by Robert Taft on “The Pictorial Record
of the Old West” appears in the Kensas Historical Quarterly for February.
It deals with the pictures of Paul Frenzeny and Jules Tavernier, two artists
who in 1873 were commissioned by Harper's Weekly “to make a series
of sketches on an expedition that took them from the Atlantic to the
Pacific.” From New York to San Francisco the two men pushed slowly
westward, crossing Missouri, Kansas, Nebraska, Colorado, and Utah, and
completing their journey some time in the summer of 1874. The sketches
they made along the way went back to New York and appeared at in-
tervals in Harper’s. Their record has been carefully studied by Professor
Taft, who illustrates his article with reproductions of their pictures. In his
introduction the author announces that the present article “will be fol-
lowed by studies of other Western artists — from the standpoint of the
social historian,”

For his entertaining review of “The American Backwoodsman in
Popular Portraiture,” which appears in the Indiana Magazine of History
for March, Thomas D. Clark draws upon both literary and pictorial rec-
ords of the frontier produced in the first half of the nineteenth century.
The language, the personal habits, the appearance, the surroundings, the
weapons, the attitudes, and the folkways of the backwoodsman are among
the varied topics discussed. Most of the examples cited are localized in
the Ohio Valley and the Missouri country.

“From Log Cabin to Sod House” is the title of a paper presented by
Edward Everett Dale before the Illinois State Historical Society in Octo-
ber, 1945, and published as the leading article in the same organization’s
Journal for December. The writer describes interesting contrasts between
the pioneer’s mode of life in wooded territory and in the treeless prairie
lands farther west. Photographs of log and sod structures illustrate the

article.
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The family album, the old-fashioned kitchen, the rail fence, the livery
stable, the singing school, the smokehouse, and the country doctor are only
a few of the Passing Institutions considered by Gordon Wilson in a recent
book of essays “about things we used to know” (Cynthiana, Kentucky,
1945. 207 p.). The role of the open fireplace in the house of the past, the
use of gourds as dippers, the custom of “swapping work,” children’s
clothing, toys, and games, the trundle bed, “home industries” that pro-
duced rag carpets, brooms, quilts, and similar articles, the practice of
“lodging the preacher”— these and many similar topics are the subjects of
essays in this unusual little book.

That the “Discovery of Lake Superior Ranges Insured Abundance of
Ore for U. S.” is brought out in an article, in the March issue of Steel
Facts, published as number 39 of a series on the history of the American
iron and steel industries. Therein is outlined briefly the story of the dis-
covery and later development of the Michigan and Wisconsin ranges
and of the Vermilion Range in Minnesota. How the Mesabi and Cuyuna
ranges were found will be revealed in a later article. With the present
concise and useful sketch appears a reproduction of an interesting picture
of “An Early Mine in the Lake Superior District.”

The doctoral dissertation of J. T. Richardson, tracing the Origin and
Development of Group Hospitalization in the United States, 18901940,
has been published as volume 20, number 3 of the University of Missouri
Studies (Columbia, 1945. 101 p.). The study, which is largely sociologi-
cal, has a brief historical introduction, where the author notes that “Blue
Cross Plans developed from four nuclei in Newark, New Orleans, St. Paul,
and Washington.”

Beginning with the February number, the War Records Collector
published during the past two years by the American Association for
State and Local History appears under a new and timely name — the War
Historian. Reports on war records projects in twenty-five states, including
Minnesota, make up the February issue. The March number presents an
article by Clarence H. Danhof on the “Federal Government and the
History of World War IL.” Much of the January number is occupied by
an abstract of an address on the “West and World War II History”
presented by Virgil V. Peterson before the American Association for
State and Local History at Indianapolis on November 8, 1945.



1946 NEWS AND COMMENT 161

General George Crook: His Autobiography, a volume edited and
annotated by Martin F. Schmitt and published by the University of Okla-
homa Press (1946. 326 p.), makes available in print the firsthand rec-
ord of one of the most significant military figures of the last century. The
narrative, the original of which is preserved in the Army War College in
Washington, covers the earlier portion of the general’s career. It includes
reminiscences of the Rogue River Indian war of the 1850’s, of Civil War
services in West Virginia, and of participation in later Indian campaigns,
including the Big Horn and Yellowstone expedition of 1876. General
Crook’s narrative ends with his account of the battle of the Rosebud, but
the editor has supplied a useful biographical supplement. The whole vol-
ume has been carefully edited. G.H. S.

The important contributions of a Minnesota woman to the study of
Indian culture are given fitting recognition by Charles Hofmann in an
article on “Frances Densmore and the music of the American Indian”
appearing in the Journal of American Folklore for January-March. The
writer notes that thousands of recordings collected by this “musical an-
thropologist” have been acquired during the past few years by the National
Archives and by the Library of Congress. The latter institution has added
them to its Archive of American Folk Song, and it will soon make disk
copies of many of the songs “available for study and for general use.”
Included in the collection are many Chippewa songs collected in northern
Minnesota.

Chapters on the Sioux Outbreak of 1862 in Minnesota and on the
flight of the hostile Indians to the Red River settlements in Canada are
included in Gontran Laviolette’s recent book on the Sioux Indians in
Canada (Regina, Saskatchewan, 1944. 131 p.). The final chapter is en-
titled “Survival of the Sioux in Canada.”

Archbishop John Ireland is designated as “the determined foe of all
movements that seemed to him to hinder in any way the ‘Americanization’
of the Church” in John J. Meng’s article on “Cahenslyism: The First
Stage, 1883-1891,” which appears in the Cazholic Historical Review for
January. As an opponent of Cahenslyism, Ireland figures prominently in
the narrative. Some of the writer’s material is drawn from a St. Paul
Catholic newspaper, the Northwestern Chronicle.

Suomi College at Hancock, Michigan, has taken the initiative in es-
tablishing a library of materials relating to Finnish immigration and the
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history of the Finns in America. The college has given wide publicity to a
program that includes stimulating popular interest in a Finnish-American
historical library, equipping a special room in a new building on the
college campus for the housing of the library, systematically assembling
books and manuscripts for the collection, and publishing a bibliography
of materials relating to the Finns in America. Plans have been made also
for building up a collection of microfilms of pertinent materials, publish-
ing a quarterly or annual journal, and issuing books on immigrant life.
Additional information about the library and its plans may be obtained
from the president of Suomi College, Mr. V. K. Nikander, or from
Professor John I. Kolehmainen of Heidelberg College, Tiffin, Ohio.

The average pupil is “generally quite unaware of the contributions of
his own community to his country’s history,” according to Martin H.
Cronlund, who contributes an article on “Utilizing Local Historical Re-
sources” to the “Public School Teachers’ Department” of Pennsylvania
History for January. “The use of landmarks, of various kinds of local re-
sources, and of place and family names, adds materially to the appreciation
of the role of the community in the history of the state and the nation,”
writes Mr. Cronlund, who then goes on to show how historical interest
can be developed in one small Pennsylvania township.

A local history school project conducted in the seventh grade of a high
school at North Salem, New York, from 1942 to 1945 has resulted in the
publication, under the sponsorship of the local board of education, of a
volume entitled When Our Town Was Young: Stories of North Salem’s
Yesterday (1945. 170 p.). It contains tales of Indians and pioneers, of the
founding of the community, of industries and transportation, of churches
and schools, and of many other matters that drew the interest of the
youthful writers. Illustrating the book are photographs of historic build-
ings and sites in the vicinity taken by the principal of the school, Mr. Fred
C. Warner. Volumes similar to this might well be prepared by the mem-
bers of Junior Historian chapters now active in Minnesota.

In honor of its late president, Dr. Dixon Ryan Fox, the New York
State Historical Association of Cooperstown has created a memorial fund
of §100,000.00 to be used in financing its publications, in paying the ex-
penses of a summer institute, and in assisting local historical museums
throughout the state. To succeed Dr. Fox, Dr. Arthur C. Parker, director
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of the Rochester Museum of Arts and Sciences, has been elected president
of the association.

The story of Dickson Mounds State Park near Lewistown, Illinois, is
featured in the January number of the Journal of the Illinois State Archae-
alogical Society. The park area of a little more than nineteen acres was pur-
chased in November, 1943, by the state of Illinois from Dr. Don Dickson,
who earlier exploited the archacological interest of the district. Photo-
graphs of the excavations in the park illustrate the issue.

The January number of the Annals of lowa opens the quarterly's
“Centennial Anniversary Volume,” for the present year marks the passing
of a century since Iowa was admitted to the Union as a state. The “Steps
to Statehood” from October 1, 1834, when the Iowa district became part
of Michigan Territory, to December 28, 1846, when the bill admitting
Iowa as a state was signed, are enumerated in the issue of the Annals.
Events that transpired and conditions that existed in the region immedi-
ately south of Minnesota “As Jowa Approached Statechood™ are reviewed
by Emory H. English, and “Northern Iowa One Hundred Years Ago”
is described in general terms by O. H. Raleigh.

Mrs. Hildegard Binder Johnson, who is the author of numerous
articles about Minnesota’s German population, contributes a detailed dis-
cussion of “German Forty-eighters in Davenport™ to the Jowa Journal of
History and Politics for January. The cultural and social activities of the
Davenport Germans, as exemplified in the local turnverein and other
societies, gave a unique flavor to life in this Iowa city, according to the
writer. Among the benefits that the community derived from its German
population were “singing societies and good music, a longlived theater,
early kindergartens, gymnastic education,” writes Mrs. Johnson. With her
article appears a “List of Lectures and Debates Given before the Daven-
port Turngemeinde.”

A collection of pioneer tales culled from newspapers, local histories, and
other warks and prepared for publication by Thomas P. Christensen ap-
pears in a volume entitled Sagas of the Hawkeyes: Being Stories ind Inci-
dents of Early lowa (Iowa City, 1945. 85 p.). Whenever possible, the
name of the author and the date when the extract was written are given.
Most of the items relate to the period from 1834 to 1888, and they deal with
such topics as “Land Hunger,” the “Hard Winter” of 184849, the



164 NEWS AND GOMMENT June

“Coming of the Hollanders,” “Pioncer Surgery,” early mills, and the
“Clausen Colony” at St. Ansgar.

Dr. Edward P. Alexander, who became superintendent of the State
Historical Society of Wisconsin in 1941, has resigned to accept an appoint-
ment as educational director of Colonial Williamsburg. His successor in
Madison is Dr. Clifford Lord, formerly director of the New York State
Historical Association at Cooperstown.

The paper read by Mr. James Gray of St. Paul at Madison before the
ninety-ninth annual meeting of the State Historical Society of Wisconsin
on October 3, 1945 (see ante, p. 67), is published in the March number
of the Wisconsin Magazine of History. Under the title “Two Leaders of
the Old Northwest: Hercules Dousman and Henry Sibley,” he pictures the
upper Mississippi frontier of a century ago and two men whose charac-
teristics and careers left lasting marks upon the Wisconsin and Minnesota
sections of that frontier. Mr. Gray finds important the “emphasis which
Dousman and Sibley put upon maintaining in a world where such things
were difficult to remember a proper respect for man as a creative artist,
for man as a creature of intellect.” Their lives and their surroundings,
writes Mr. Gray, contradict the “cliché notion of the frontier” as a “place
where mean and squalid threats to peace and to life itself were constantly
imminent,” and “where there was no leisure for anyone.” The second in-
stallment of Lillian Krueger’s enlightening study of “Motherhood on
the Wisconsin Frontier” (see ante, p. 68) appears in the same issue of the
Wisconsin Magazine of History.

How the State Historical Society of Wisconsin, only a few years after
its organization in 1846, made possible “An Art Gallery in Frontier Wis-
consin” is revealed by Edward P. Alexander, until recently the director of
the society, in an informing article published in the Wisconsin Magazine
of History for March. When Lyman C. Draper became the new society’s
corresponding secretary in 1854, his plans “included a definite scheme for
building up an art gallery,” writes Mr. Alexander, for “Draper had early
realized the value of the artist’s brush in preserving the memory of his
revered pioneers.” In a narrative based upon items in the society’s ar-
chives, the writer shows how Draper enlisted the interest of many artists of
wide reputation, some of whom contributed to the society’s collection,
and how he commissioned other painters to produce local views and por-
traits of Wisconsin leaders. “There can certainly be no doubt of the value
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of Draper’s art gallery of early Wisconsin,” according to the author, who
believes that “as a promotion device in building a historical society” it was
particularly significant.

The “cook shanty” of Paul Bunyan’s camp, a building “about a half
mile in length,” is described in one of the recent booklets issued by the
Wisconsin Folklore Society. It is devoted to tales of Sourdough Sam, Paul
Bunyan’s lllustrious Chief Cook (Madison, 1945). “It took a half day
just to walk around” the shanty in which Sam cooked; he worked over
a “cooking range several acres in extent,” and “three forties of timber had
to be cut every week to keep up the fire.” A score of Bunyan Bunkhouse
Yarns are related in another recent publication of the same society.

Theodore Saloutos is the author of a detailed study of the “Montana
Society of Equity,” an organization that held sway from 1914 to 1920,
in the Pacific Historical Review for December. The society is pictured as a
phase of the co-operative movement in the Northwest, including Min-
nesota. The relations of the society with similar organizations in Minne-
sota receive frequent mention.

From the skillful pen of Stewart Holbrook have come two recent books
recording the stories of Pacific Northwest lumber companies that marked
golden anniversaries in 1945. Half Century in the Timber (110 p.) is a
narrative about Schafer Brothers Logging Company of Aberdeen, Wash-
ington; Green Commonwealth (163 p.) reviews the progress of the Simp-
son Logging Company of Shelton, Washington. Both volumes are
profusely illustrated, and both have been issued in attractive format by the
Dogwood Press of Seattle.

The text of a letter written by Lord Selkirk from Pembina on Sep-
tember 14, 1817, is published in the March number of the Beaver. Selkirk
paused at Pembina on his journey from the Red River settlement to eastern
Canada — a trip that took him southward through what is now Minnesota.
The letter, in which he gives minute directions for the conduct of his
affairs at Red River, is addressed to Alexander McDonell.

A journey over one of the old Red River trails from Sauk Rapids to
Pembina in 1851 is described in a reminiscent narrative found among
the papers of Charles Cavileer and published in North Dakota History
for October. It is in the form of an address delivered before a meeting
of old settlers at Grand Forks in 189r1. Cavileer went to Pembina to
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become collector of customs for the district of Minnesota. The departure
of Joe Rolette and Norman W. Kittson in the fall of 1851 after their
election to the Minnesota territorial legislature is among the events re-
called.

That nuns bound for the St. Boniface mission in the Canadian Red
River settlement often reached their destination with the cart trains that
traveled northwestward through Minnesota from St. Paul is revealed by
Sister Mary Murphy in one of the Papers read before the Historical and
Scientific Society of Manitoba in 1944—45 and edited for publication by
Clifford Wilson (Winnipeg, 1945. 80 p.). Sister Mary’s narrative, which
bears the title “The Grey Nuns Travel West,” is based upon manuscripts
preserved by the Grey Nuns at St. Boniface. The first nuns of the order,
the writer records, left Montreal in the spring of 1844 and traveled west-
ward by canoe ‘over one of the early routes of the fur traders. By 1846,
however, Grey Nuns were traveling overland to the Mississippi, upstream
by steamboat to St. Paul, and across the prairies in Red River carts. One
group, in 1850, spent a month in Father Ravoux’s house in St. Paul while
waiting for the cart caravan. In another paper of the series, S. J. Sommer-
ville discusses “Early Icelandic Settlement in Canada,” giving special at-
tention to the New Iceland colony founded on Lake Winnipeg in 187s.
Accompanying the narrative are English translations of the constitution
and the “Governmental Regulations” of the colony. Under the title “ “The
Forks’ Becomes a City,” William Douglas surveys briefly the story of
the discovery and exploration of the site of Winnipeg and the steps in
the settlement and founding of the city.

GENERAL MINNEsoTA ITEMS

The possibility that Fort Snelling might be abandoned to make room
for the expansion of the Twin City airport has given rise to a movement
for the preservation as a national monument of the original tract and the
restoration of the original buildings. The Minnesota Historical Society is
supporting the movement. In an address before the Inter-Professional
Men’s Club of St. Paul on February 7, its superintendent, Dr. Arthur J.
Larsen, made an appeal for the old fort, urging that the original tract of
about 825 by 525 feet that overlooks the junction of the Minnesota and
Mississippi rivers should be set aside for preservation as a historic site,
and that the National Park Service should be authorized to restore the
buildings. The Sz. Paul Pioneer Press, in a feature article published in
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its magazine section for February 24, endorses the project and briefly
reviews the role of the fort in four wars. Reproduced with the article is a
painting by Seth Eastman showing Fort Snelling in 1838 as viewed from
Mendota.

Some incidents connected with the residence at Fort Snelling in the
1830’s of Dred Scott and his owner, Dr. John Emerson, are recounted in
a feature story by Dr. L. Edmond Leipold in the Minneapolis Tribune for
March 3. The author recalls also the famous case in the United States
Supreme Court that grew out of Scott’s residence in free northern territory.

That Edward Eggleston created one of his Hoosier characters while
residing in Minnesota is revealed by William Randel in an article entitled
“Zoroaster Higgins: Edward Eggleston as a Political Satirist in Verse,”
published in American Literature for November. Mr. Randel believes
that Eggleston first used the pseudonym in signing a “Letter to General
Gorman from a Hoosier” that filled a column of the St. Paul Daily Press
for August 24, 1864. “The creation of Zoroaster Higgins,” writes Mr.
Randel, “was a lucky inspiration, politically well timed.” He reports that
Higgins did not reappear until 1871, shortly before the publication of the
Hooster School-Master, and then Eggleston published satirical verse under
the name.

A study of “Intermarriages between German Pioneers and Other Na-
tionalities in Minnesota in 1860 and 1870,” contributed by Hildegard
Binder Johnson to the American Journal of Sociology for January, is
based upon the manuscript census schedules of population for those years.
The writer believes that “T'o know the number and character of intermar-
riages among the Germans in a pioneer state means to ascertain the
starting-point for the fusion of one natjonality with others in the American
melting-pot.”

A “Historical Sketch” of Macalester College prepared for a Founders’
Day celebration in 1938 by the late Anna Dickson of St. Paul appears in
the February issue of the school’s Bulletin. She recalls Edward D. Neill’s
pioneer effort to establish “in Minnesota a school of higher learning pat-
terned after the New England colleges”—an effort that resulted in the
founding of the Baldwin School, which in the 1870’s took the name of an
eastern benefactor and became Macalester College. The development of
the school in its present St. Paul location after 1885 is briefly outlined,
and some information is given about early faculty members.
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With three installments appearing in Minnesota Medicine for January,
February, and March, Nora H. Guthrey brings to a close her “Notes on the
History of Medicine in Houston County Prior to 1900,” which have been
published as part of the magazine’s “History of Medicine in Minnesota.”
Sketches of individual physicians and a bibliography conclude the section.
It is followed in the March number by the opening installment of the
same author’s “Notes on the History of Medicine in Fillmore County
Prior to 1900.” A survey of the beginnings of settlement in the 1850’s
serves as a background for the story of frontier medical practice.

The twenty-fifth anniversary of the Land O’Lakes Creameries, as well
as of the local district of this important Northwest co-operative concern,
is the occasion for the publication, in the Norman County Index of Ada
for March 7, of several articles about its history. One general account
outlines the “story of co-operative achievement by thousands of dairy
farmers who have been united in a single organization since June 7, 1921,
when 300 creameries formed ‘Land O’Lakes.”” The district in which
Ada is located is the subject of another historical sketch, and the story of
the Ada Co-operative Creamery Association is reviewed in a third article.

The career of J. B. LaMont, who recently retired from Northwest Air-
lines after nearly twenty years of service, is reviewed by Jack Mackay in a
feature article in the Sz. Paul Pioneer Press for January 20. Mr. LaMont
joined Northwest Airways as chief mechanic when it was incorporated
under that name in 1927. Many of his pioneering adventures in airplane
construction, dating back to the early years of the century and including
association with such men as Glen H. Curtiss, are recalled in the present
narrative.

Under the title “Minnesota Memories,” Ruth Thompson has been
publishing, in the Monday issues of the Minneapolis Morning Tribune,
articles about people and events connected with the history of Minneapolis
and neighboring communities. The travel narrative of an Englishman,
Francis Wilkinson, who visited St. Paul and St. Anthony in 1853, is the
basis for the article published on January 7; early schools, their teachers
and pupils, are described in the installments for January 21 and 28; “Lin-
coln and the Sioux Outbreak” is the subject dealt with on February 11;
some St. Paul ice palaces of the past are described on February 18; and the
picturesque career of Robert Fremont Jones is sketched on March 18.
In an article published on March 25, Miss Thompson outlines the story
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of telephone service in Minneapolis from 1878, when the first line was
installed by Richard H. Hankinson. In an illustrated feature article en-
titled “There’s No Change in Winter,” appearing in the Tribune for
January 6, Miss Thompson describes Minneapolis winter sports of the past.

LocaL HisToricAL SOCIETIES

The history of a single Minnesota institution is the nucleus about which
one of the most interesting local museums in the state has grown. Located
in the College of St. Benedict at St. Joseph, the museum has developed
under the fostering care of Sister Grace McDonald, a member of the Bene-
dictine order and of the school’s history faculty. Through her active and
intelligent interest, many of the school’s records as well as objects associ-
ated with its early years have been assembled and arranged in a large room
below the chapel. The possibilities for research afforded there are sug-
gested in the article which Sister Grace has contributed to this issue of
Minnesota History.

The Benedictine community of women had its Minnesota beginnings
at St. Cloud in 1857, and in 1863 the convent was removed to St. Joseph on
the open prairie ten miles to the west. Account books and other records of
activity in the frontier convent dating back as far as 1868 are to be found
in the museum. Many of the pioneer nuns came from Bavaria, and they
kept their records both in German and in English. The German influence
is evident in entries recording the purchase of a “Bed-steat,” of “Alter-
things,” and the like. Side by side are listed such articles as oil paintings,
cabbages, and candles purchased for use in the convent.

At an early date the sisters at St. Joseph began to train teachers to serve
in Catholic schools on western Indian reservations. Among the records
preserved at St. Benedict’s are some relating to a school for Indian and
mixed-blood children on the White Earth Reservation in northern Minne-
sota. A school register dates from 1876, and a series of reports records the
name, the degree of Indian blood, and the daily attendance of each pupil.
Readers and other school books in the Chippewa language used in the
White Earth school are included in the collection.

For St. Benedict’s Academy, established by the nuns in connection with
their convent at St. Joseph, there is a complete file of catalogues from 1883
to the present, as well as a scrapbook of clippings relating to the history of
the school. Files of Catholic and German newspapers, including the Cazho-
lic Bulletin and the Nordstern of St. Cloud, are preserved for the infor-
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mation they contain about Benedictine activity in the Northwest. An effort
has been made to collect the books of Mrs. Julia S. Wood, a pioneer Catho-
lic journalist and novelist of Sauk Rapids who wrote under the pseudonym
of Minnie Mary Lee.

In a glass case that covers one wall of the museum room are displayed
some of the articles used or made by pupils who attended St. Benedict’s
Academy in the 1880’s. There are artificial flowers of paper, cloth, and
hair, as well as the tools used in making them; a cross intricately worked
in beads; a portrait of a saint embroidered in needlepoint on a paper back-
ground, and other examples of the womanly arts in vogue six decades ago.
A zither of 1869 and a piano harp manufactured in Minneapolis in 1890,
both of which were played at school entertainments, are on display. An
item of unusual interest is a Peace and Friendship medal of 1817 that may
have belonged to the Chippewa chief Hole-in-the-Day and that came to
the museum from White Earth. A large and well-arranged picture collec-
tion includes portraits of scores of priests and nuns, views of the interior
and exterior of the college buildings, and photographs of parish schools,
churches, and convents in the area of the Northwest served by Benedictine
sisters from St. Joseph.

~ The displays at St. Benedict’s, as well as the convent itself, illustrate
vividly the transfer of an old-world culture to the Minnesota frontier. The
story of the actual transition from Monte Cassino in Italy, — the home of
the Benedictine order which tragically became the center of a major battle
of World War II,— via Metten in Bavaria, to the American wilderness of
the 1850’s was told in this magazine almost two decades ago by Professor
A. C. Krey of the University of Minnesota (see ante, 8:217-231). What
one group of Benedictines accomplished in the new environment is re-
flected in the little museum on the campus of the College of St. Benedict at
St. Joseph. B.L. H.

The Becker County Historical Society held open house in its museum
at Detroit Lakes on the evening of January 8. Mrs. Jessie Nottage is curator
of the museum. Dr. F. J. Rogstad, president of the society, was re-elected,
and M. J. Reilly and A. T. Thompson were named vice-presidents.

Since the Blue Earth County Historical Society opened its museumn in
its present quarters in September, 1938, more than 12,000 visitors who
registered have seen the displays, according to the Mankato Free Press
for March 20. The present custodian, Mr. John Theissen, estimates that
the total number of visitors is about 17,000, since many individuals fail to
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register. Last year thirty-seven school and club groups saw the displays.
Members of the Art History Club of Mankato paid a visit to the museum
on January 8 in lieu of the program usually held in connection with its
meetings. The club has contributed to the museum funds for a display
case in which can be shown some of the work of Gilbert Fletcher, a local
artist who attained a national reputation. Among recent additions to the
society’s collections is a scrapbook of clippings about local events presented
by Mr. Frank Morris of Madelia. It is described in the Mankato Free Press
for January g.

Among the recent acquisitions of the Brown County Historical Society’s
museum at New Ulm is a bicycle that a local resident, Mr. Lorenz Merkle,
used for forty-seven years, according to an announcement in the New
Ulm Daily Journal for January 7. A few of the Bibles in the society’s collec-
tion are the subject of a note in the Stephen Messenger for December 20,

1945.

The Norwood Times, in its issue for March 1, announces the gift to
the Carver County Historical Society of 173 portraits of men and women
from the county who served in the armed forces of the Second World War.
The society is making every effort to build up its collection of such pictures.

Some of the implements used by pioneer women in preparing flax and
in spinning and weaving, and now to be seen in the museum of the Chip-
pewa County Historical Society at Montevideo, are described in the Monze-
video American for February 22. Attention is called to the fact that, like
the Minnesota Historical Society, the local society has several hatchels.
Samples of flax and of linen woven by residents of the county are other
items mentioned. Among those who attended a meeting of the society at
Montevideo on February 2 was Mr. Richard Sackett, field director of the
Minnesota Historical Society, who discussed informally the local organi-
zation’s work and plans.

Officers elected at a meeting of the Goodhue County Historical Society
held at Red Wing on March 6 include Dr. M. W. Smith, president, Judge
Charles P. Hall, vice-president, Rosalie Youngdahl, secretary, and E. F. H.
Swanson, treasurer. Resolutions were adopted in honor of the late C. A.
Rasmussen, the society’s president and curator of its museum. To succeed
Mr. Rasmussen, who died early in February, Miss Mabel Densmore has
been appointed curator. The county board appropriated funds for her
salary at a meeting held on March 12.
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The “progress made by the Hennepin County Historical Society, Min-
neapolis, Minnesota, since its founding in 1938” is commended by the
editor of the State and Local History News in its January issue.

In order to accommodate people who cannot visit its museum on week-
days, the Hennepin County Historical Society is now open on Sundays
from 2:00 to 5:00 p.M. On four days each week the museum is open to
the public from g:00 A.M. to 4:00 p.M. The Hennepin County museum,
its inception in 1938 and its subsequent growth, is the subject of an article
in the Minneapolis Weekly News for January 18. The local society held its
annual meeting in Minneapolis on January 23, when Mayor Hubert H.
Humphrey of that city spoke on the “Post War and the New World.”
Professor Herbert Heaton of the University of Minnesota was the speaker
at a meeting on March 13, when the newly elected president of the organi-
zation, Mr. Dana W. Frear, presided. Other officers of the society include
Charles E. Doell, vice-president, Ruth Thompson, secretary, and Leland
F. Leland, treasurer. The January number of the society’s quarterly, Hen-
nepin County History, contains the opening installment of an article by
Mr. Frear on the “First Schools in Hennepin County.”

The need for a local historical society in the Itasca County community
of Deer River is stressed by the editor of the Deer River News in the issue
for February 7. An inquiry from a former resident of the community
about local history and events, published in the News for January 17,
stimulated so many replies that the editor could not handle them. Some
of the information gathered, however, was published in the issues of his
paper for January 31, where the community of the 1890’s is described,
and for February 14, where a pioneer school in the vicinity is recalled.

The Kittson County Historical Society, at a meeting held at Lake
Bronson on March 19, reorganized and elected officers for the coming year.
They include C. W. Bouvette, president, Carl O. Furaas, secretary, and
Charles Frederick, treasurer. Plans were made for a membership drive and
for the arrangement of displays in a restored log cabin in Lake Bronson
State Park. Kittson County residents have been asked to contribute articles
appropriate for display.

A brief report on the name “Fairmont,” prepared by the secretary of
the Martin County Historical Society in response to an inquiry from a
railroad company, is published in the Fasrmont Daily Sentinel for February
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23. It reveals that the name, which was originally spelled “Fairmount,”
was first “applied to the area that is now the city of Fairmont in October,
1857,” when a townsite company platted a town. Later a post office, a
military post, and an incorporated settlement used the name.

A sketch of the Worthington Community Club is among the articles
and other items of local historical interest published in the Bulletin of the
Nobles County Historical Society for January. Mrs. L. A. Thrall, the
author, traces the story of the organization back to 1915. In another section
of the Bulletin attention is called to the coming seventy-fifth anniversary
of Worthington, to the plans for its observance, and to the fact that the
local historical society will participate in the program.

The career of George W. Lovejoy, a pioneer Rochester musician, was
reviewed by Mrs. Bunn T. Willson, president of the Olmsted County
Historical Society, before a meeting of the organization at Rochester on
January 24. To illustrate Mrs. Willson’s talk, several of Lovejoy’s compo-
sitions were performed by local musicians. A showing of the film “Min-
nesota Document” was another feature of the program.

At a meeting of the board of directors of the Polk County Historical
Society held at Crookston on January 7, Judge James E. Montague was
elected president of the organization to fill the vacancy caused by the death
of Dr, Paul Hagen.

The story of “Immigrants from Isle of Man” who settled in Greenvale
Township of Rice County in the 1850’s is reviewed in an article by Sage
Van Slyke Silliman published in the Norzhfield Independent for January
31. The paper was presented before a meeting of the Rice County His-
torical held at Northfield on May 22, 1945.

The St. Louis County Historical Society has published a four-page
leaflet containing an informing outline of its organization, purposes, col-
lections, and activities. A brief introduction tells something of the county
that the society serves. Its manuscript and museum collections, its library,
and the Eastman Johnson paintings are singled out for special comment.
Visitors to the society’s quarters in Duluth should find this guide espe-
cially useful.

A talk on “Local History Work” by Richard R. Sackett of the Minne-
sota Historical Society’s staff was the feature of a meeting of the Sibley
County Historical Society held at Henderson on February 1. The society
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held its annual meeting on February 28, when the following officers were
elected: Arthur Sander, president, Louis Kill, vice-president, Einar Rog-
stad, secretary, and C. H. Stelter, treasurer. More than seventy members
attended the meeting. In a brief talk, Mr. Rogstad called attention to the
advantages to be gained by establishing a county historical museum in
Henderson.

The Waseca County Historical Society held its first meeting under
newly adopted articles of incorporation on January 7. The society’s affairs,
under its new bylaws, are regulated by a board of nine members who serve
for terms of one, two, and three years. They were elected at the meeting
of January 7. Following the meeting, the board named R. T. Barry as
president of the society, Mrs. F. D. Scholljegerdes, vice-president, Herman
Panzram, secretary, and Arthur Brisbane, treasurer.

The early settlement of Forest Lake Township, the development of the
community, and the beginnings of its summer resort industry in the 1870’
were reviewed by Mrs. C. J. Hansen in a talk before the Washington
County Historical Society at Stillwater on January 17. The text of her
address appears in installments in the Forest Lake Times from January 24
to February 7. “The County Historical Society and the Community” was
the title of a talk given by Richard Sackett, field director of the Minne-
sota Historical Society, when he appeared before the Washington County
organization on March 2. A Newport teacher, Ila Rose Jarchow, spoke
before the society on March 30, explaining “How We Studied Community
History.” An annual report on the society’s museum, read before the
meeting of March 2, shows that is was open on Saturdays and Sundays
from June 16 to October 11, 1945, and that 368 visitors registered during
that period.

Locar History ITEMS

The grist mill built at Minneopa in 1864 by Louis Seppman is the
subject of an article by Frank Franciscus in the Mankato Free Press for
March 1. The writer notes that the walls of this picturesque windmill,
which is depicted with the article, are still standing near Mankato. Other
windmills in the area, such as that built by Gustaf Schostag in the 1860’s,
also are mentioned. In the Free Press for February 15, Flora Holtman
describes the early use of an automobile for commercial purposes by a
Mankato candy manufacturing concern. The vehicle, which is pictured
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with the narrative, was used by the firm’s salesman in South Dakota in
1902.

The story of a farm at Victoria in Carver County which has been occu-
pied by members of the Salter family since 1854 is reviewed by Robert H.
Salter in the Weekly Valley Herald of Chaska for March 7. His narrative
is based in part on his father’s diary.

The little resort town of Chisago City is the subject of an informal essay
by John T. Flanagan which appears under the title “My Summer Home”
in the issue of the Prairie Schooner for the winter of 1945. The author
pictures a community “with a lineage almost purely Swedish,” where the
“Swedish language and culture transplanted with the original settlers are
gradually being replaced by the speech and customs of the typical Mid-
westerner.” He gives some examples of the “curious mixture of idioms”
used by local residents, of the “concerted action™ that finds expression in
co-operative business enterprise, “unanimous membership” in a single
church, and united political action. The rise and decline of the local resort
business also are a subject of comment. “Despite the white frame houses,
the enormous red barns and silos, the village bandstand, the triangular
park with a flagpole, there is an old-world air of finality about Chisago
City,” writes Dr. Flanagan. “This is no parvenu village but a sturdy, in-
dependent, proud little community, granitic in its reserve and content in
its ways.”

The history of the unusual spiral bridge across the Mississippi River at
Hastings is outlined in the magazine section of the Sz. Paul Pioneer Press
for March 3. The bridge, which was opened to traffic in April, 1895, will
soon be replaced by a safer structure, according to this account. A picture
of the bridge accompanies the article.

To safeguard files of local newspapers and other material of value for
the study of local history a special fireproof vault is being constructed in
the Albert Lea Public Library, according to an announcement in the
Evening Tribune of Albert Lea for February 8. Among the items to be
preserved are thirteen volumes of clippings from Freeborn County news-
papers “assembled, bound and indexed under the direction and at the
personal expense of L. W. Spicer.” The material included relates to
the county’s participation in the Second World War. A complete file of the
Tribune, covering half a century, also is to be kept in the new vault.
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A brief section on the “History of Red Wing Churches” opens Lowry
Nelson’s pamphlet on Red Wing Churches During the War, which has
been published by the University of Minnesota Press as number 7 of its
series of studies on the Community Basis for Postwar Planning (1946.
21 p.). Many of the city’s churches, Professor Nelson points out, trace
their origins to the 1850’s, when New Englanders and immigrants from
northern Europe settled there.

Historical Reminiscences of Lake Minnetonka presented to members
of the Lake Minnetonka Garden Club in August, 1945, by a group of
women who have long been familiar with the area have been assembled
in a pamplet and published by the club (33 p.). The opening essay, by Mrs.
George C. Christian, reviews the “Early History of Wayzata, Harrington
Farms, Orono and Minnetonka Beach,” with notes on the exploration and
settlement of these localities. Mrs. Stanley Partridge contributes “Upper
Lake Memories” of the summer home of her father, Albert C. Loring.
A more general account of “Upper Lake Minnetonka,” its background, its
settlers, its summer residents, and its St. Louis colony, is provided by Mrs.
G. Nelson Dayton. There are essays on “Excelsior” by Mrs. William O.
Winston, on “Northome” by Mrs. Russell M. Bennett, and on “Maple-
woods” by Mrs. Clarkson Lindley. Many detailed bits of information
about summer resorts, place names, early residents, summer colonies, local
traditions, and the like are to be found in the booklet, which includes a
map of Lake Minnetonka.

Some of the background and history of Minnetonka Mills, as related
to a group meeting in a private home in the community by Miss Louise
Burwell and Mr. Dana Frear, is published in the Deephaven Argus for
February 1. They told of a sawmill and a furniture factory built in the early
1850’s, of steamboats on Lake Minnetonka in the 1860’s, and of the
early schools in the vicinity.

An attractive illustrated booklet issued in May, 1945, to commemorate
the Digmond Jubilee, Church of St. Joseph in Minneapolis, includes a re-
view of the “Story of the Parish of St. Joseph, 1870~1945.” The church
was founded in 1870 to satisfy the needs of German Catholics who had
settded in North Minneapolis.

Now available in pamphlet form is I. W. Hinckley’s “History of Little-
fork,” which appeared in installments in the Litslefork Times from Sep-
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tember 20 to December 27 (see ante, 26:397). The booklet of thirty-two
pages is illustrated with early photographs of the town and its vicinity.

A half century of service by the Rochester Public Library is given recog-
nition in the Rochester Post-Bulletin for February 13, where the history
of one of the community’s chief cultural assets is reviewed. The city had
subscription libraries and library associations as early as 1865, according to
this account, but it was not until 1895 that a public library, supported by
taxes, was opened, The first librarian received a salary of fifteen dollars a
month, and her two assistants served without pay, the report reveals. It
records also the growth of the library’s collection, its circulation increase,
and the story of its building.

That Rush City needs a “memorial building” equipped to house vet-
erans’ groups, a public library, and a local museum, is brought out in a
letter from the local Commercial Club printed in the Rush City Post of
February 1. That organization has been co-operating with the local Ameri-
can Legion post and the village council in making plans for such a building.

St. Paul ice palaces of the 1880’s and winter sports enjoyed in connec-
tion with some of the city’s early winter carnivals are pictured in the
rotogravure section of the St. Paul Pioneer Press for February 24. In other
sections of the same issue are articles telling how “St. Paul Made Winter
‘Fun’” through its early carnivals, reviewing the “dog team race” from
Winnipeg to St. Paul that was a feature of the 1917 carnival, and describ-
ing souvenirs of past carnivals displayed by the Minnesota Historical So-
ciety during the 1946 event.

Readers of the St. Paul Shopper are reminded of some “Forgotten Facts
about St. Paul” by Mark Fitzpatrick, who contributes to the weekly paper
brief articles published under that heading. Among the subjects of sketches
published in the early months of 1946 are Dan Emmett and the writing of
“Dixie,” January 16; some early St. Paul ice palaces, Januvary 30; the or-
ganization of the St. Paul chapter of the Volunteers of America in 1900,
February 13; Lot Moffet and his “castle,” February 277; and Michael Shiely
and his family in St. Paul, March 13. A second historical series in the
Shopper, entitled “Down Memory Lane,” calls attention, in the issue for
February 20, to John T. Flanagan’s article on “Early Literary Periodicals
in Minnesota,” which appeared in this magazine for December, 1945.



178 NEWS AND COMMENT June

A booklet commemorating its fiftieth anniversary has been issued by
the firm of Brown and Bigelow of St. Paul. It includes a brief review of
the history of the concern, as well as notes on its various products and
activities.

The passing of fifty years since the St. Paul Printing Pressmen and
Assistants’ Union No. 29 was organized was marked by its members on
January 25 and commemorated by the publication of a Golden Anniver-
sary booklet (24 p.). It outlines briefly the work accomplished by the union
during its half century of existence, names the charter members, and pays
tribute to its first president, Thomas Yould. Among the illustrations are
dramatic views of St. Paul in 1896 and 1946.

An appeal for the inclusion in the new Hibbing library building of a
room that can house a historical museum is made in the Hibbing Daily
Tribune for January 2. If such a room becomes available, the local paper
points out, significant local collections, like the firearms collection assem-
bled by Mr. Algot Lindholm, can be kept in the community and placed on
permanent exhibition. An article about the latter collection, by Margaret
Thorbeck, appears in the Tribune for February 21.

Winona’s need for an art museum —a building that “could also house
a historical museum and possibly a national history section”— is stressed
in an article, in the Winona Republican-Herald of March 16, which tells
in some detail about museums that flourish in other communities of com-
parable size. Mention is made of buildings and collections in Oshkosh,
Wisconsin, Zanesville, Ohio, Duluth, Lawrence, Kansas, and other places.
The fact that the Olmsted County Historical Society has a museum at
Rochester for which the county makes an annual appropriation is noted.
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